897

10-27

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-345
Lower Tribunal: 16-1977-CF-2874

ERNEST CHARLES DOWNS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND
FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

BY

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

2006 SEP 13 P 3:57

FILED
THOMAS D. HALL

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JEFFERSON W. MORROW
Florida Bar No. 369136
1301 Riverplace Blvd., Suite 2600
Jacksonville, FL 32207
P: (904)399-5626
Attorney for Appellant.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 4, 1977, Downs was indicted for first degree murder. (T.T.785-86). The indictment was amended on August 11, 1977, charging Downs and three others with conspiracy to commit first degree murder, and one of the conspirators charged with first degree murder. Downs pled not guilty.

Downs' trial began on December 12, 1977. On December 16, 1977, the jury rendered a guilty verdict on both counts (T.T. 837). On December 20, 1977, a majority of the jury recommended a death sentence (P.T. 87). On January 27, 1978, the trial court *ore tenus* imposed a sentence of death on the count of first degree murder and a concurrent sentence of thirty (30) years on the count of conspiracy to commit first degree murder (S.T. 37-40). No findings of fact were entered, except the judge found for a "*fact*" that Downs "*fire[d] the fatal shots and [] was the active participant in the murder.*" (S.T. 34).

This Court affirmed Downs' convictions and sentences on direct appeal. Downs v. State, 386 So. 2d 788 (Fla.1980). In June 1982, Downs filed a 3.850 motion for a new trial (from Case No. 59.865, which was denied without prejudice to file a 3.850 motion). On October 12-13, 1982, and January 11-12, 1983, the trial court held an evidentiary hearing. On August 12, 1983, the court denied Downs' motion to vacate. This Court affirmed the denial. Downs v. State, 453 So.2d 1102

(Fla.1984). Downs petitioned for habeas corpus relief, which this court denied.

Downs v. Wainwright, 476 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1985).

On August 18, 1987, Governor Martinez signed a death warrant and Downs' execution was scheduled for September 17, 1987. Downs filed a petition for extraordinary relief, for a writ of habeas corpus and request for stay of execution dated September 8, 1987. On September 9, 1987, this Court granted Downs' writ, and vacated Downs' sentence, and remanded for a new sentencing in light of Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987); Downs v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1987).

After a new sentencing proceeding, the jury recommended death by an eight (8) to four (4) vote. The trial court re-sentenced Downs to death on February 17, 1989. This Court affirmed the death sentence on appeal. Downs v. State, 572 So. 2d 865 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 101 (1991).

In November 1992, Downs filed a 3.850 motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentence with special request for leave to amend. The motion was amended in October 1993, and again in September 1994. On March 3, 1997, the trial court denied the motion and this Court affirmed. Downs v. State, 740 So.2d 506 (Fla.1999). Downs petitioned for habeas corpus relief, which this Court denied.

Downs v. Moore, 801 So.2d 906 (Fla.2001)

In December 2001, CCRC filed Downs' §2254 petition. In October 2004, the district court dismissed the petition as time-barred because CCRC failed to meet the AEDPA's one year time limitation. This is presently under appeal in the 11th Circuit. Before dismissing the petition as untimely, the district court dismissed CCRC, and allowing Downs to proceed *pro se*, stayed the case, and in August 2002, ordered Downs back to state court to argue Ring and exhaust his IAC claim.

In September 2002, Downs initiated action in the trial court which led to a 3.850/3.851 motion and this appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The errors presented begin with an unconstitutional response to a jury question in mid deliberation that constructively amended Downs' murder indictment and altered the verdict form. The latter of which resulted in Downs not being acquitted (or convicted) of the firearm charge of which he stood accused. Furthermore, counsel's failure to object to the trial court's erroneous handling of the jury question highlights additional claims of the ineffective assistance of counsel (that ultimately extended into Downs' direct appeal).

The hallmark of the IAC claims are that counsel's failure to subject the state's case to meaningful adversarial testing was more than a deficient performance due to incompetence. It was an egregious representation due to an untraditional third person conflict of interest that prevented Downs from testifying. Moreover his ample defense being abandoned at the last second without consultation, or inquiry by the court.

Downs also presents *inter alia*, a Brady/Giglio claim; an *anomalous* culpability/disproportionality claim; and an unprecedented Ring claim. All of which can be heard because *inter alia* Downs' direct appeal is not mandated.

The claims that follow require that Downs' 1977 conviction and sentence be set aside.

ARGUMENT I

DOWNS' MURDER CONVICTION AND DEATH SENTENCE MUST BE OVERTURNED BECAUSE THE TRIAL JUDGE IN MID JURY DELIBERATION CONSTRUCTIVELY AMENDED THE MURDER INDICTMENT AND ALTERED THE VERDICT FORM IN VIOLATION OF DOWNS' FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF FLORIDA'S CONSTITUTION.

Due process requires that an indictment be drafted clearly and with specificity, so that the accused knows precisely the charge and is able to intelligently prepare a defense. Stang v. State, 421 So.2d 147, 150 (Fla. 1982). The indictment charged Downs with "*unlawfully and from a premeditated design to effect the death of Forrest J. Harris, Jr., . . . by shooting him to death with a pistol, . . . , contrary to Sections 782.04 and 775.087, Florida Statutes.*" (T.T. 785-86).¹ *Exhibit 1*

¹ While Section 775.087 is usually thought of as a sentencing enhancement. In Downs' indictment, Section 775.087 and Section 782.04 are a statute creating and defining a criminal offense. Acknowledged by this Court in Downs v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1069, 1072 (Fla.1987). ("*a firearm charge of which Downs stood accused.*"). The elements of the offense were a factual finding to be left to the jury. Taylor v. State, 785 So.2d 1179, 1180-81 (Fla. 2000).

No one else was named in the murder indictment read to the jury. The State did not contend that anyone other than Downs shot and killed Harris (T.T. 14-21). There was no evidence that Downs aided or abetted (other than that he participated in a conspiracy) only Johnson's immunized absurd testimony that Downs killed Harris (T.T. 119-21).²

² In addition to the constructively amended indictment argument, the judge erred in giving over objection, the 2.05 principal instruction under the facts of this case (T.T. 654-55). Especially given defense counsel's opening statement that "[o]ur defense is this case is a very simple one. We admit that Jerry Harris was killed . . . , that it was a homicide, that is, it was a death by the hand of another person. We deny that [] Downs was that person. He was not that person" (T.T. 22-23). For a case on point see Lucas v. O'Dea, 179 F.3d, 412, 417 (6th Cir. 1999).

Since the State's case was that Downs killed Harris, the law required that it be proven beyond a reasonable doubt that it was Downs who killed Harris as charged.

Specifically, the judge told the jury:

Before the presumption of innocence leaves the defendant, every material allegation of the indictment must be proved by the evidence to the exclusion of and beyond every reasonable doubt. The presumption accompanies and abides with the defendant as to each and every material allegation of the indictment through each stage of the trial until it has been overcome by the evidence to the exclusion of and beyond every reasonable doubt. If any of the material allegations of the indictment is not proved to the exclusion of and beyond every reasonable doubt, you must give the defendant the benefit of the doubt and find him not guilty (T.T. 788-89).

The judge explained that the essential elements which must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt before there can be a murder conviction are:

- One. Forrest J. Harris, Jr. is in fact dead.
- Two. The death was caused by the act of the defendant.
- Three. The killing was wrongful and by the means stated in the indictment and
- Four. The killing was neither justifiable nor excusable homicide, . . . (T.T. 815).

And the judge made clear that "[t]he defendant is not on trial for any act or conduct not charged in the indictment" (T.T. 818-19).

The judge also gave Jury Instruction 2.17, a specific instruction regarding the use of a firearm in the commission of the crime, which says:

The punishment provided by law for the crime of murder is greater if, as charged in this case, the defendant, during the commission of such crime, carries a firearm. Should you find the defendant guilty of murder of any degree, it will be necessary for you to find in your verdict whether it has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant, during the commission of the crime, did use a firearm (T.T. 814).

The "*Charge of the Court*" concluded with the verdict form being explained to the jury, which included their marking did or did not use a firearm, and they were given a copy of the indictment (T.T. 820).³

³ When a defendant is charged with the use of a firearm, and the verdict form includes whether or not the defendant used a firearm, then the jury must make such a finding. *State v. Hargrove*, 694 So.2d 729 (1997).

The jury retired to deliberate at 6:41 p.m. At 9:20 p.m., the jury buzzed and presented the following question:

In regard to the question as to whether the defendant did or did not use a firearm, must the defendant be guilty of actually pulling the trigger, or is he guilty of using the firearm through association of being an accomplice in a murder of which a firearm was used (T.T. 827-28). *Exhibit 2*

After brief questioning by the judge, the jury confirmed that their question related specifically to the use of a firearm *Instruction 2.17* (at T.T. 814) (T.T. 833-34).

Since the question pertained to the verdict form and the finding of whether or not

The judge also gave Jury Instruction 2.17, a specific instruction regarding the use of a firearm in the commission of the crime, which says:

The punishment provided by law for the crime of murder is greater if, as charged in this case, the defendant, during the commission of such crime, carries a firearm. Should you find the defendant guilty of murder of any degree, it will be necessary for you to find in your verdict whether it has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant, during the commission of the crime, did use a firearm (T.T. 814).

The "*Charge of the Court*" concluded with the verdict form being explained to the jury, which included their marking did or did not use a firearm, and they were given a copy of the indictment (T.T. 820).³

³ When a defendant is charged with the use of a firearm, and the verdict form includes whether or not the defendant used a firearm, then the jury must make such a finding. State v. Hargrove, 694 So.2d 729 (1997).

The jury retired to deliberate at 6:41 p.m. At 9:20 p.m., the jury buzzed and presented the following question:

In regard to the question as to whether the defendant did or did not use a firearm, must the defendant be guilty of actually pulling the trigger, or is he guilty of using the firearm through association of being an accomplice in a murder of which a firearm was used (T.T. 827-28). *Exhibit 2*

After brief questioning by the judge, the jury confirmed that their question related specifically to the use of a firearm *Instruction 2.17* (at T.T. 814) (T.T. 833-34). Since the question pertained to the verdict form and the finding of whether or not

Downs “*actually*” used a firearm, the correct answer to the question was “no.”⁴

⁴ The importance of addressing such a question correctly cannot be emphasized enough, especially in a capital case. E.g. Lebron v State, 894 So.2d 849 (Fla. 2005) “the [] jury effectively acquitted him of the possession or use of a gun during the commission of those felonies.” *Id.* 853

After conferring with the prosecution and defense counsel in chambers without Downs (T.T. 831), the judge, instead of answering the jurors’ question, ordered the jury to “*delete*” from their verdict form whether or not Downs used a firearm, and instructed the jury to “[j]ust totally disregard that from [their] consideration at this point” (T.T. 836), which amounted to being instructed to totally disregard from their consideration whether or not Downs shot and killed Harris as charged in the indictment.^{5 & 6}

⁵ If the Court had given an “appropriate response” to the jurors’ question, Downs’ absence from the proceeding would be a harmless error, but since the court response was unconstitutional, Downs’ absence was an error, since he could have pointed out that since the question pertained to the verdict form and use of a firearm Instruction 2.17, the “*appropriate response*” was to answer their question with “no.” Because under Florida law, Downs’ verdict form had to reflect whether or not he used a firearm (T.T.814). Vining v. State, 827 So.2d 201, 217-18 (Fla. 2002). See also Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.180 (a).

⁶ Brown’s failure to raise an objection based on both due process and Florida law highlights his ineffectiveness. Everett v. Beard, 209 F.3d 500 (3d Cir. 2002). Brown’s ineffectiveness omitted a “*dead-bang*” winner from Downs’ initial direct appeal, and gives rise to “*cause and prejudice*.” United States v. Cook, 45 F.3d 388, 392-95 (10th Cir. 1995), e.g. Matire v. Wainwright, 811 F.2d 1430, 1438 (11th Cir. 1983). (Counsel’s failure to raise issue which ‘was obvious on the record, and must have leaped out upon even a casual reading of [the] transcript’ was deficient performance).

The jury returned to their deliberation at 10:18 p.m. and just two minutes later at 10:20 p.m., with several jurors actually weeping (S.T.4, 5 & 8), Downs was found guilty of murder and conspiracy to commit murder (T.T. 837). ⁷ *Exhibit 3*

⁷ In sentencing Downs to death, the judge said “*I would find that [Downs] did in fact fire the fatal shots*” as charged in the indictment (S.T. 34). This Court holds that “[t]o allow a judge to find that an accused actually possessed a firearm when committing a felony . . . would be an invasion of the jury’s historical function and could lead to a miscarriage of justice . . .” State v. Overfelt, 457 So.2d, 1385, 1387. (Fla. 1984).

The foregoing instructions was a “*fatal variance*” that amounted to a constructive amendment of Downs’ murder indictment. The variance from the indictment to the jury instruction constituted a constructive amendment that deprived him of his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. Lucas v. O’Dea, 179 F.3d at 417 (6th Cir. 1983); U. S. v. Weissman, 899 F.2d 1111, 1114 (11th Cir. 1990).

The constructive amendment relieved the State of its duty of proving all the elements of the offense and relieved the jury of its initial instruction to find Downs guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of all the essential elements charged in the indictment. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 477 (2000); U. S. v. Alvarez, 755 F.2d 830 (11th Cir. 1985). The judge invaded the province of the jury and effectively plead Downs guilty of using the firearm, which, *a fortiori* implied that Downs shot and killed Harris as charged. The burden

of having to prove or disprove a material allegation of the indictment was shifted to Downs. Sandstrom v. Montana, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 2484 (1979); Weissman, supra; U. S. v. Keller, 916 F.2d 628 (11th Cir. 1990). In short, the “*fatal variance*” was a due process violation that resulted in Downs being convicted and sentenced to death on grounds not alleged in the indictment. Stirone v. U. S., 361 U.S. 212, 217-18 (1960). A conviction obtained under such circumstances can not stand. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979); Alvarez, supra.

It is generally presumed that jurors follow their instructions. Perry v. Johnson, 21 S.Ct. 1910, 1922 (2001). In Downs’ case, it would have been both logically and ethically impossible for a juror to follow both sets of instructions, *i.e.* initial instruction and supplement instruction. Therefore there can be no good faith debate that would discount the possibility that Downs’ jury may have interpreted the judge’s response to their question in an unconstitutional manner. The Due Process clause prohibits the State from making use of jury instructions that have the effect of relieving the State of the burden of proof enunciated in Winship. Francis v. Franklin, 105 S.Ct. 1965, 1977 (1985). The Supreme Court mandates that “[i]n returning a conviction the jury must satisfy itself that the necessary elements of the particular crime have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” Barclay v. Florida, 103 S.Ct. 3418, 3425 (1983). This Court has noted the difference a single juror can make when

it comes to finding reasonable doubt. Floyd v. State, 902 So.2d 775, 785 (Fla. 2005). This Court has also held that a “*miscarriage of justice*” arises where instructions are “*reasonably calculated to confuse or mislead*” the jury. Goldschmidt v. Holman, 571 So.2d 423, 425 (Fla. 1990). The judge suspected Downs’ jury was “*confused*” (T.T. 833-34).

The question asked by the jury (that went unanswered), establishes that whether or not Downs killed Harris, was in serious doubt. Therefore there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury understood the supplemental instruction to disregard whether or not Downs used a firearm, and to delete it from the verdict form, in a manner that violated due process, and erroneously lead the jury to believe that Downs carried the burden of introducing evidence. This violates Downs’ constitutional privilege against compelled self-incrimination. Jackson v. State, 575 So.2d 181, 188, n.4 (Fla. 1991).

The supplemental instruction to “*just totally disregard... at this point*” whether or not Downs used a firearm, invaded the province of the jury and effectively pled Downs guilty of murder as charged in the indictment, was a plain fundamental per se reversible error. Weissman, supra. The order to “*delete*” from the verdict form whether or not Downs used a firearm as charged, was a clear structural error that defies analysis by the harmless - error standards. Johnson v. United States, 117 S.Ct. 1455, 1549-50 (1997). If there was ever a case in which the requisite quantum of

cumulative effect is present, it is the case at hand. To escape the force of this logic, would be to turn a blind eye to justice, instead of justice being blind.⁸⁻⁹

⁸ The question asked by the jury (without any defense whatsoever) indicates it believed that Harris was killed by the State's star immunized witness, Johnson: Downs v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1987). Therefore the judge's unconstitutional handling of the jurors' question could have effectively prohibited them from giving Downs a "jury pardon," based upon their reasoning that Johnson was going unpunished because he had lied to get immunity, coupled with the lenient treatment of others involved (*Post* pp. 57, 58), that Downs should just be convicted of conspiracy. This is a concept often recognized by this Court. *E.g.* Bailey v. State, 224 So.2d 796 (Fla. 1969). *Cf.* Adams v. State, 341 So.2d 765, 769 (Fla. 1977). Disallowing the jury to find that Downs did not use a firearm could well have foreclosed a vote against the imposition of the death penalty due to the existence of "whimsical doubt." See Smith v. Wainwright, 741 F2d 1248, 1255 (11th Cir. 1984). Neither the possibility of a "jury pardon" or the existence of "whimsical doubt" could be corrected through a resentencing before a different jury. *Post* Argument IV. Down v. Dugger, *supra*. *CF.* Oregon v. Guzek, 126 S.Ct. 1226, 1232 (2006).

⁹ Downs respectfully submits that the foregoing "plain fundamental per se reversible error" and the "clear structural error that defies analysis by the harmless-error standards" are errors that are subject to this Court's review *ex mero motu*. Streeter v. State, 416 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

This Court is prayed to take *Judicial Notice* of the question asked by the jury in mid deliberation (T.T. 827-28), the trial judge's unconstitutional response and alteration of the verdict form (T.T. 836), which resulted in Downs not being convicted of the "firearm charge of which [he] stood accused", *ante*, f.1. Wherefore, Downs' judgment of conviction and sentence should be vacated.

ARGUMENT II

DOWNS WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL (AND APPELLATE) COUNSEL, DUE PROCESS OF LAW, AND EQUAL PROTECTION UNDER THE LAW, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF FLORIDA'S CONSTITUTION

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