# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERNEST CHARLES DOWNS

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC04-345

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

# **ISSUE ONE:**

This claim is time and procedurally barred. Additionally, the invited error doctrine bars this claim. Downs' claim stems from an allegation of trial error in 1977. Downs could have and should have raised this claim on direct appeal. As Downs failed to do so, the claim is procedurally barred.

Moreover, the claim is without merit. Downs was charged in a two-count indictment with first degree murder and conspiracy to commit murder. The first count charged Downs with the premeditated murder of Forrest Jerry Harris, Jr., by shooting him with a pistol. Also contained within the first count of the indictment was language applicable to a three-year minimum mandatory sentence imposed if a defendant, inter alia, carries or uses a firearm during the commission of an enumerated felony. Section 775.087, Florida Statutes (1976).

After a jury question about the sentencing enhancement language and upon stipulation of both counsel for the State and counsel for the defense, the trial judge removed the sentencing enhancement language from the jury's consideration. As a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The denial of the Rule 3.800 motion was not raised as a separate issue in the instant appeal.

conviction for first degree murder required the defendant to be sentenced to either death or life without the possibility of parole, the sentence enhancement language was superfluous to the crime of first degree murder.

Pursuant to Rule 3.140, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, superfluous language may be stricken from an indictment or information. Downs failed to show his rights of due process were violated by striking the superfluous language.

Finally, Downs agreed to the striking of the language from the verdict form. (TR Vol. I 835). Under the invited-error doctrine, a party may not make or invite error at trial and then take advantage of the error on appeal.

# ISSUE TWO:

This claim is procedurally barred as the claim was not presented to the collateral court in Downs' second successive motion for post-conviction relief. Additionally, the claim is time barred as Downs' claims of ineffective assistance of counsel were filed some sixteen years after the time to file the claims had expired.

### ISSUE THREE:

This claim is procedurally barred as the claim was not presented to the collateral court in Downs' second successive motion for post-conviction relief. Additionally, the claim is time

barred as Downs' <u>Brady</u> and <u>Giglio</u> claims were filed some sixteen years after the time to file the claims had expired.

# **ISSUE FOUR:**

This claim is procedurally barred. Downs presented this claim on direct appeal from his second sentencing proceeding. This Court affirmed and ruled Downs' claim was proportionate. <u>Downs v. State</u>, 572 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1990).

# **ISSUE FIVE:**

This Court has held, in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 904 So.2d 400 (Fla. 2005), that the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Ring v. Arizona</u> has no application to cases on collateral review. As Downs' conviction was final some 21 years before <u>Ring</u> was decided and Downs' sentence was final some 11 years before <u>Ring</u> was decided, <u>Ring</u> has no application to Downs' conviction and sentence. Moreover, one of the aggravators found to exist in this case was that Downs had previously been convicted of a violent felony. This Court has repeatedly rejected <u>Ring</u> claims upon a finding of the prior violent felony aggravator.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE ONE

WHETHER DOWNS' CONVICTION AND SENTENCE MUST BE OVERTURNED BECAUSE, DURING JURY DELIBERATIONS, THE TRIAL JUDGE AMENDED THE INDICTMENT AND ALTERED THE VERDICT FORM IN VIOLATION OF DOWNS' RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

Downs alleges the trial judge improperly amended the indictment, at his original 1977 trial, by deleting the requirement that the jury consider whether Downs used a firearm in the course of murdering Mr. Harris. This Court may deny this claim for at least two reasons.

First, this claim is procedurally barred. As found by the collateral court, this claim could have and should have been raised in Downs' initial appeal that was decided on May 22, 1980. Consalvo v. State, 937 So.2d 555, 558 (Fla. 2006) (noting that Consalvo raised an issue regarding a constructive amendment to the indictment on direct appeal); Woodel v. State, 804 So.2d 316 (Fla. 2001) (considering but rejecting claim the trial court impermissibly allowed constructive amendment of the indictment); Hall v. State, 742 So.2d 225, 226 (Fla. 1999) (ruling that issue that could have been raised on direct appeal but were not cognizable claims through collateral attack).

Downs offers no logical explanation why he is entitled to litigate this claim some twenty-six years after it could have been

raised on his initial direct appeal. This Court should deny this claim as procedurally barred.

Second, this Court may deny this claim because it is without merit. At its core, the issue Downs places before this Court is whether the trial judge amended the indictment and, if so, did the amendment cause him harm.

The indictment alleged, in pertinent part, that Ernest Charles Downs unlawfully and from a premeditated design to effect the death of Forrest J. Harris, Jr., did kill the said Forest J. Harris Jr., by shooting him to death with a pistol, and in the course of committing said murder, carried a firearm or other deadly weapon, to wit: a pistol, contrary to Sections 782.04 and 775.087. (TR Vol. I 9).

The trial judge instructed the jury that the elements of premeditated first degree murder included: (1) Forrest J. Harris Jr. is dead; (2) the death was caused by the defendant; (3) the killing was wrongful and by the means stated in the indictment; (4) the killing was neither justifiable or excusable homicide, and (5) the defendant acted with a premeditated design to effect the death of the deceased. (TR Vol. XII 815). The jury was also instructed as to the meaning of premeditation. (TR Vol. XII 811-812).

Additionally, the trial court instructed the jury that "the punishment provided by law for the crime of murder is greater if, as charged in this case, the defendant, during the commission of

such crime, carries a firearm. Should you find the defendant guilty of murder of any degree, it will be necessary for you to find in your verdict whether it has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant during the commission of the crime, did use a firearm." (TR Vol. XII 814).

Contrary to Downs' allegations, this "use of a firearm" language was not an element of first degree murder. Neither was it, as Downs alleges, a separate firearm charge. (IB 59). Instead, the language was a sentencing enhancement provision provided for in Section 775.087, Florida Statutes (1976).

After the instructions were given, the trial judge went over the verdict form with the jury. The court instructed the jury it was to first consider whether the defendant was guilty of first degree murder as charged, guilty of any lesser included offense, or not guilty. The Court told the jury that once it came to a decision on the charged offense, it must next consider if the defendant did or did not use a firearm. (TR Vol. XII 820). The "use of a firearm" entries were placed separately on the verdict form.

Some three hours into deliberation, the jury posed a question. The question was "in regard to the question as to whether the defendant did or did not use a firearm, must the defendant be guilty of actually pulling the trigger or is he guilty of using the

firearm through association of being an accomplice in a murder in which a firearm is used." (TR Vol. XII 828).

After discussion with both counsel and with the jury, the parties agreed the question concerned the minimum mandatory three-year sentencing enhancement language from Section 775.087, Florida Statutes (1976), that had been placed on the verdict form. (TR Vol. XII 833-834). After some additional discussion, the prosecutor informed the trial court that, after conferring, both the prosecution and the defense had agreed to simply delete the language from the verdict form. (TR Vol. XII 835). The trial court queried trial counsel whether he agreed. Trial counsel stated he did. (TR Vol. XII 835).

Thereafter, the jury was instructed to simply delete, from their verdict form, the language "did use a firearm or did not use a firearm." (TR Vol. XII 836). The Court instructed the jury it was required only to render a verdict as to Count I and Count II. (TR Vol. XII 836).<sup>5</sup>

Though not entirely clear, it appears that Downs' complaint is that the trial judge removed an essential element of first degree murder from the jury's consideration and, as such, he was not

 $<sup>^{5}\,</sup>$  The trial judge noted that it could not take back the verdict form at this point in the deliberations to strike the language herself. (TR Vol. XII 835-836). It is logical to conclude she made this decision in order to protect from disclosure any decisions already made by the jury and marked on the verdict form.

actually convicted of Mr. Harris' murder. Additionally, and apparently alternatively, Downs alleges the trial judge's instruction to disregard the separate firearm finding "effectively pled Downs guilty of murder as charged in the indictment." (IB 11). Downs does not explain how deletion of this language was the functional equivalent of a judicially imposed guilty plea.

Downs is not entitled to the relief he seeks. Rule 3.140, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, adopted in 1968, governs indictments and informations. The rule permits "surplusage", defined as "an unnecessary allegation" to be disregarded. The rule also allows the court, on motion of the defendant, to strike surplusage from the pleading.

The only two possible sentences upon conviction for first degree murder were life without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years or death. Had Downs not been sentenced to death, a minimum mandatory sentence of twenty-five years would have been imposed. Accordingly, a separate finding of whether Downs qualified for a minimum mandatory three year sentence enhancement because he carried or used a firearm was surplusage to the charge of first degree murder. Pursuant to Rule 3.140, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, the trial judge committed no error in deleting the language from the verdict form.

Additionally, the language was surplusage because the indictment alleged Downs killed Mr. Harris by "shooting him with a

pistol". (TR Vol. I 9). The trial judge's deletion of the separate finding regarding use of a firearm had no effect on the indictment's allegations regarding the means by which Downs effected Mr. Harris's death. As the jury found Downs guilty of first degree murder as charged, the jury concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that Downs murdered Mr. Harris by shooting him with a pistol. (TR Vol. I 9; 2SPCR Vol. I 44).

Finally, Downs agreed to the striking of the language from the verdict form. (TR Vol. I 835). Under the invited-error doctrine, a party may not make or invite error at trial and then take advantage of the error on appeal. Cox v. State, 819 So.2d 705, 715 (Fla. 2002); Norton v. State, 709 So.2d 87, 94 (Fla. 1997); Terry v. State, 668 So.2d 954, 962 (Fla. 1996); Czubak v. State, 570 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1990). In this case, the alleged error was fully discussed and agreed to by Downs' trial counsel. Even if the idea to strike the language from the verdict form did not originate with the defendant, his agreement with the procedure should preclude the relief he now seeks. This Court should deny his claim. 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This claim is also time barred. Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim.P 3.850, the latest Downs could have raised this claim was January 1, 1987. Downs offers no exception to the Rule which would allow him to raise the claim sixteen years too late.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER DOWNS WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL, DUE PROCESS OF LAW, AND EQUAL PROTECTION UNDER IN VIOLATION OF HIS SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF FLORIDA'S CONSTITUTION

In Claim Two, Downs raises various issues of ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of Downs' capital trial. This claim should be denied for at least two reasons. First, none of these claims were presented to the collateral court in Downs' second successive motion for post-conviction relief. Downs provides no explanation why he brings these claims to this Court now, having failed to raise them below.

An issue that was not presented below during collateral proceedings is procedurally barred on appeal. Kokal v. State, 901 So.2d 766, 780 (Fla. 2005) (because Kokal failed to present a claim that the State violated his due process rights by failing to preserve evidence that could potentially have been subjected to DNA testing, the issue was not litigated below and, as such, it is procedurally barred on appeal). See also Walton v. State, 847 So.2d 438, 452 (Fla. 2003) (Walton's claim that Rule 3.850 prohibits the Governor of Florida from signing a death warrant until two years after a death sentence becomes final was not presented below and, as such, is procedurally barred); Cave v. State, 529 So.2d 293, 299 (Fla. 1988) (same); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1095, 1096 (Fla. 1987) (ruling that "[i]n order to

preserve an issue for appellate review, the specific legal argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial court"). On this basis alone, this Court may deny this claim.

Downs' claims of ineffective assistance of counsel may also be denied because, even if he would have presented them below, all of his claims are time barred. Each of Downs' claims relate to the guilt phase of Downs' 1977 capital trial. Downs' conviction became final for the purposes of collateral review when the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review on November 3, 1980, and denied a motion for rehearing on January 18, 1981. Downs v. Florida, 449 U.S. 976 (1980).

Pursuant to Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, (1985), any person whose judgment and sentence became final prior to January 1, 1985, shall have until January 1, 1987, to file a motion for post-conviction relief. <u>Downs v. State</u>, 740 So.2d 506 (Fla. 1999) (noting that Downs had until January 1, 1987, at the latest, to request post-conviction relief as far as the issue of guilt is concerned, unless he establishes the existence of newly discovered evidence). Had Downs actually brought these claims in his second successive motion on May 30, 2003, some sixteen years after the time for filing these claims had expired, the collateral court would have, properly, dismissed the claims as time barred.

<sup>7</sup> Rule 3.851(b)(1)(B), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Even if some of Downs' claims had included claims from his second sentencing proceeding, the claims still would have been time barred. Downs' sentence imposed after his second sentencing proceeding became final when the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review on October 7, 1991. <u>Downs v. Florida</u>, 502 U.S. 829 (1991).

Pursuant to Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure (1991), Downs would have had two years to file a motion for post-conviction relief, or until on or about October 7, 1993. If Downs had actually filed any sentencing claims in the collateral court in his May 30, 2003, motion, the collateral court would have correctly

dismissed them as time barred.<sup>8</sup> Downs claims of ineffective assistance of counsel should be denied.<sup>9</sup>

#### ISSUE III

WHETHER THE STATE WITHHELD EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF BRADY V. MARYLAND AND PRESENTED FALSE TESTIMONY IN VIOLATION OF GIGLIO V. UNITED STATES

Downs alleges the State violated the dictates of <u>Brady v.</u>

<u>Maryland</u> by withholding a tape recorded conversation between John

Barfield and Harry Murray regarding Larry Johnson's role in the murder and by withholding the name of a <u>Brady</u> witness revealed by

Bowns raised some of the claims her raises here, in previous pleadings and this Court has already denied relief. For instance, before this Court Downs alleged trial counsel was ineffective for entering into a contingent fee agreement with Downs. Downs claims this created an irrevocable conflict of interest. (IB 17). Over twenty-two years ago, this Court denied this claim in <a href="Downs v. State">Downs v. State</a>, 453 So.2d 1102, 1109 (Fla. 1984). Downs offers no explanation why he believes he can raise these claims anew.

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